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UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS
JOHN GERALD BROUSSARD,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of M ssissipp
(CR-J92-80(L)(N))

(Novenber 4, 1993)

Before KING H G3 NBOTHAM and BARKSDALE, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM !

John Gerald Broussard chall enges his convictions for various
drug-rel ated of fenses. W AFFI RM

| .

Sheriff's deputies, pursuant to a search warrant, entered a
home i n Jackson, M ssissippi. One deputy found Broussard standi ng
inthe kitchen with a m xi ng bowl and spoon in his hands. The bow

contained a mxture of baking soda and cocaine; a fingerprint

. Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needless
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



expert later identified one of Broussard's fingerprints on the
bow . The deputies recovered three pounds of cocai ne hydrochl ori de
and crack cocaine in the kitchen.
Broussard was i ndi cted for conspiracy to possess crack cocai ne
with intent to distribute, in violation of 21 U S.C. 8§ 841(a) (1),
846; possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine, in
violation of 21 US C 8§ 841(a)(1l); possession wth intent to
distribute cocaine hydrochloride, in violation of 21 US C 8§
841(a)(1l); and the use of a firearm in relation to a drug
trafficking crinme, in violation of 18 U S C 8§ 924(c)(1)-(2).
Broussard was convicted on the first three charges, but acquitted
on the firearns charge.
1.
A
Consistent with his notion to suppress in district court,
Broussard asserts that the evidence obtained by virtue of the
warrant shoul d have been suppressed.
1
First, he nmaintains that the warrant was defective in three
respects: (1) the "bare bones" affidavit was insufficient for
i ssuance of the warrant; (2) the issuing judge msidentified the
affiant; and (3) the issuing judge inproperly credited the hearsay
statenments of an informant w thout corroboration.
W need not reach this issue, because the evidence is

adm ssi ble under the good faith exception to the exclusionary



rule.? United States v. Gordon, 901 F.2d 48, 49-50 (5th Cr.),
cert. denied, 498 U. S. 981 (1990); see also United States v. Leon,
468 U. S. 897 (1984) (establishing the exception). Br oussard
contends that the warrant was "facially deficient”, and thus not
within the scope of the good faith exception. The warrant did
identify one | aw enforcenent officer as the affiant, when, in fact,
it was another.? Broussard makes nuch of the fact that the

of fi cers whose nanes apparently were switched were both involved in

2 W do note, however, the remarkable simlarity between the
assertions nade by Broussard in this case and those rejected in
United States v. Brown, 941 F.2d 1300, 1302-04 (5th Cr.), cert.
denied, 112 S. . 648 (1991).

3 The "Underlying Facts and Crcunstances" affidavit provided,
inits entirety:

|, Scott Turner, Affiant am enpl oyed by the HI NDS
COUNTY SHERI FFS DEPARTMENT as a DEPUTY SHERI FF. My
duties include the enforcenent of the uniform
Control |l ed Substances Act of 1972 amended.

Now cones before ne a person that has provided
information to this officer in the past.
Information provided by this confidential source
has proven to be true and correct, therefore
proving that this confidential informnt has proven
to be a reliable person.

TH'S sane confidential source has told this
i nvestigator that he has seen crack cocai ne at 570
Heat herwood St., Jackson WMS. This residence is
controlled by a black female, known as Sharon
Smth. This confidential source has stated that he
has seen crack-cocaine in the past 24 hrs. Based
upon the reliability of this confidential source[,]
|, Scott Turner hereby request a Search Warrant be
i ssued for the above | ocation.

Though the affiant was clearly Turner, the search warrant stated
that the affiant was Danny Wods. Danny Wods was another |aw
enforcenent officer who planned to "do the search warrant", but he
decided to take control of the surveillance of the house and |et
Turner procure the warrant.



the investigation of the crine and the execution of the warrant.
Fromthis fact, Broussard argues that the officers "knew that the
warrant was defective on its face".

We review the reasonabl eness of a | aw enforcenent officer's
reliance on a warrant de novo. United States v. Wlie, 919 F. 2d
969, 974 (5th CGr. 1990). Unquestionably, the officers may have
known that the warrant msidentified the affiant; however, to
conclude that such de mninus error renders a warrant facially
defective would "egregiously elevate form over substance." See
Gordon, 901 F.2d at 50. 1In fact, the Suprene Court characterizes
a facially deficient warrant as one "failing to particularize the
pl ace to be searched or the things to be seized" to such an extent
"that the executing officers cannot reasonably presune it to be

valid." Leon, 468 U S. at 923. Here, the defect in issue did not

go to the substance of the warrant, i.e., the place to be searched
and what was to be seized; rather, the alleged defect -- an
apparent product of negligence or inadvertence -- was one an

of ficer mght reasonably, and in good faith, conclude was of little
or no nonent. The exclusionary rule is not concerned with such
m nor transgressions. United States v. De Leon-Reyna, 930 F.2d
396, 400 (5th Cr. 1991) (en banc) (citing and quoting Leon).
2.
Next, Broussard asserts that guns seized during the search
were outside the scope of the warrant. Even assumng this to be

correct, failing to exclude the seized guns nust be deened



harm ess, because he was acquitted of the firearns charges. Fed.
R CimP. 52(a).
3.

As the final basis for asserting that his Fourth Amendnent
rights were violated, Broussard charges that the deputies violated
t he "knock and announce" rule, 18 U.S.C. § 3109.4 But, we recently
declined to incorporate that rule into the <constitutional
requi renent of reasonabl eness that governs searches by state | aw
enforcenent personnel. United States v. Sagari bay, 982 F.2d 906
(5th Gr. 1993), cert. denied sub nom Rueda v. United States
(U S Cct. 4, 1993) (No. 92-9165). The deputies' actions were
reasonable: the raid took place in the afternoon, "m nim z[ing]
the risk that they woul d unnecessarily intrude into the def endants
private activities"; the deputies had reason to believe that drugs
were in the honme; and, the deputies announced their identity and
pur pose upon entering the honme. See id. at 910. Their failure to
knock and announce was reasonable under the totality of the
circunstances. See id.

B
Broussard testified at trial. He challenges the introduction

i nto evidence during his cross-exam nation of his prior convictions

4 The statute provides in pertinent part:

The officer may break open any outer or inner
door or window of a house ... to execute a search
warrant, if, after notice of his authority and
purpose, he is refused adm ttance...

18 U.S.C. § 3109 (enphasis added).
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for grand larceny auto (two convictions) and carrying a conceal ed
weapon by a felon. But, Fed. R Evid. 609(a)(1l) permts the
i npeachnent of an accused with evidence of prior convictions
puni shabl e by death or inprisonnent in excess of one year if its
probative value outweighs its prejudicial effect. And, the
district court has broad discretion in applying this rule. United
States v. Turner, 960 F.2d 461, 465 (5th Cr. 1992).

On the other hand, the district court is required to make a
finding in the record that the probative value of the prior
conviction exceeds its prejudicial effect. United States v.
Acosta, 763 F.2d 671, 695 (5th Cr.), cert. denied sub nom Wenpe
v. United States, 474 U S. 863 (1985). The court did so, stating:
"I'f they were drug convictions then the court would at |east be
considering the substantial prejudice that would be inherent in a
drug conviction. ['"'m not now ruling on this, but the court is

inclined to allow the governnent to inquire about these

convictions." This court has approved the use of prior convictions
where "the instant charge and the previous ... conviction did not
i nvol ve the sane el enents, issues or defenses."” United States v.

Breckenridge, 782 F.2d 1317, 1323 (5th Cr.) (internal quotations
and citation omtted), cert. denied, 479 U S. 837 (1986). The

district court did not abuse its discretion.?®

5 In his reply brief, Broussard al so argues that the prosecutor
i nproperly inquired about the details of the convictions, such as
the l ength of incarceration. This specific argunent was not raised
in Broussard's original brief; a new | awer was appointed for his

reply brief. Because this issue is raised for the first tine in
the reply brief, we wll not address it. Needl ess to say, "an
appel Il ant abandons all issues not raised in its initial brief."
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C.

As asserted in his notions for acquittal at trial, Broussard
chal  enges the sufficiency of the evidence for his conviction on
t he conspiracy charge (21 U S.C. § 846), claimng that there was
"no proof that [he] ever entered into an agreenent with any person
to possess cocaine with the intent to distribute it."

A conviction nust be sustained if "a reasonable trier of fact
could find that the evidence establishes guilt beyond a reasonabl e
doubt.” United States v. Bell, 678 F.2d 547, 549 (5th Cr. 1982)
(en banc) (footnote omtted), aff'd, 462 U. S. 356 (1983). |In order
to secure a conviction under 21 U S. C. 8§ 846, the governnent nust
prove, inter alia, that two or nore persons agreed to violate the
narcotics laws. See United States v. Carter, 953 F.2d 1449, 1454
(5th Cr.), cert. denied sub nom Hammack v. United States, 112 S.
Ct. 2980 (1992). The agreenent may be tacit, and it may be
inferred fromcircunstantial evidence. 1d. at 1456. O course,
credibility determnations are "within the province of the jury."
| d. at 1455 (citation omtted). At bottom "[w hether the evidence
is direct or circunstantial, the test is whether the jury could
reasonably, logically, and Ilegally infer from the evidence
presented that appellant was guilty ... beyond a reasonabl e doubt."

United States v. Wiite, 569 F.2d 263, 266 (5th Cr.) (citation and

Uni ted Paperworkers Int'l. Union, AFL-CIO, CLC v. Chanpion Int'l.
Corp., 908 F. 2d 1252, 1255 (5th Gr. 1990) (citations omtted); see
al so Abbott v. Equity Goup, Inc., 2 F.3d 613, 627 n.50 (5th Cr.
1993) .



internal quotations omtted; ellipses in original), cert. denied,
439 U.S. 848 (1978).

Broussard's brother was apprehended after |eaving the hone
just before the warrant was executed. O ficers found itens used in
the processing of crack cocaine in his car, and he testified at
trial that he had pled guilty to narcotics charges. Upon entering
the hone, a deputy found Broussard standing in the kitchen, m xing
cocai ne powder and baking soda in a bowl. Another container of
such a m xture was found "cooking" in the m crowave oven. |In all
t hree pounds of cocai ne was recovered, and four beepers were found
in the kitchen. The jury apparently discounted Broussard's deni al
of any involvenent with the cocaine and his explanation for the
di scovery of his fingerprints on the bow (that he may have t ouched
it while nmoving it out of the way so he could get a drink of
wat er) . In sum the jury could have reasonably inferred that
Broussard and his brother had a tacit agreenment to possess and
di stribute crack cocai ne.

D.

Broussard contends that he was denied due process by the
district court refusing the followng requested "theory of the
case" instruction:

The Court instructs the jury that if you have
a reasonable doubt about whether or not the
governnent has proved John Broussard guilty and
believe John Broussard my have travelled to
Jackson M ssissippi nerely to visit his brother,
Craig Broussard, and was not in a conspiracy to
possess controlled substances, did not possess
controll ed substances, and did not use or carry a
firearmduring and in relation to a crine of drug

trafficking, then it is your duty to return a
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verdict of acquittal on all counts against John
Br oussard.

W di sagree. Initially, we note that the district court's
discretion in fornmulating a charge is broad, "so | ong as the charge
accurately reflects the law and the facts of the case.” United
States v. Allred, 867 F.2d 856, 868 (5th Cr. 1989) (citation
omtted). W will reverse the refusal to give a proposed
instruction only if "the instruction (1) is substantively correct;
(2) was not substantially covered in the charge actually delivered
to the jury; and, (3) concerns an inportant point in the trial so
that the failure to give it seriously inpaired the defendant's
ability to effectively present a given defense.” United States v.
Gissom 645 F.2d 461, 464 (5th Gr. 1981); see also Allred, 867
F.2d at 868.

The requested instruction was substantially covered in the
charge. See United States v. Robinson, 700 F. 2d 205, 211 (5th Cr
1983) (noting that the usual entitlenent to a "theory of the case"
instruction may be disregarded if the substance of the requested
charge "is stated el sewhere in the instructions"). The jury was
instructed (1) on reasonabl e doubt; (2) to determ ne the facts from
the evidence; (3) to weigh the evidence, draw reasonable
i nferences, and nake credibility determ nations; and (4) on the
el enments of the crinmes. Taking the instructions as a whole, see
United States v. Chavis, 772 F.2d 100, 108 (5th Cr. 1985)
(requiring that a charge "be considered as a whole"), the charge
nmore t han adequately conveyed that which Broussard wi shed the jury

to hear.



In addition, the failure to give the instruction did not
substantially inpair Broussard's ability to present a defense.
| ndeed, pursuant to the charge, he had the opportunity to propound
his "theory of the case" in closing argunent. The district court
did not abuse its discretion; it is not obligated to "secure for
the defendant a judicially narrated account of “his' facts and

| egal argunents."” Robinson, 700 F.2d at 211 (citations omtted).

E
As noted, Broussard testified at trial. He asserts that the
prosecutor's closing argunent coment that "in order to find

[ Broussard] not guilty, you have got to believe everything he told

you" viol ated the due process clause by inperm ssibly shifting the
burden of proof to the defendant. See Inre Wnship, 397 U S. 358,
364 (1970). (H's immediate objection at trial was overrul ed.)
Broussard clains that "[t] heoretically the jury coul d have believed
not hi ng that the defendant said but could still have found that the
governnment had failed to neet its burden of proof and could have
voted not quilty.” And, he asserts that the district court, by
failing to sustain his objection, placed its inprimtur upon an
unconstitutional shifting of the burden of proof.

Even assum ng the comments were i nappropriate, they nust al so
be harnful. See United States v. Lowenberg, 853 F. 2d 295, 301 (5th
Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U S. 1032 (1989) (requiring that a
prosecutorial comment be both i nappropriate and harnful in order to

constitute reversible error); Fed. R Cim P. 52(a). "A crimnal

conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a
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prosecutor's comrents standi ng alone.” Lowenberg, 853 F.2d at 302
(citation and internal quotations omtted). |If the charge hel ped
cure any inproper argunent, or if the strength of the evidence of
the defendant's guilt is great, we should deem the inproper
argunent harmless. |d.

The charge, which instructed the jury on the elenents of the
crime and the necessity of proof beyond a reasonabl e doubt, coupl ed
wth the overwhelm ng evidence of gquilt, renders the coments
harm ess.

L1l
For the foregoing reasons, the convictions are

AFFI RVED.



